The Senate

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee

Provisions of the Migration Litigation Reform Bill 2005

© Commonwealth of Australia 2005
ISBN 0 642 71512 2
This document was printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra

MEMBERS OF THE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Marise Payne, **Chair**, LP, NSW Senator the Hon. Nick Bolkus, **Deputy Chair**, ALP, SA Senator Brian Greig, AD, WA* Senator Joseph Ludwig, ALP, QLD Senator Brett Mason, LP, QLD Senator Nigel Scullion, CLP, NT

Substitute Member

- * Senator Aden Ridgeway, AD, NSW to replace Senator Brian Greig for matters relating to the Indigenous Affairs portfolio
- * Senator Andrew Bartlett, AD QLD to replace Senator Brian Greig for the inquiry into the provisions of the Migration Litigation Reform Bill 2005.

Participating Members

Senator the Hon. Eric Abetz, LP, TAS Senator John Hogg, ALP, QLD Senator G. Barnett, LP, TAS Senator Gary Humphries, LP, ACT Senator A. Bartlett, AD, QLD (for DIMIA) Senator Linda Kirk, ALP, SA Senator Mark Bishop, ALP, WA Senator Susan Knowles, LP, WA Senator George Brandis, LP, QLD Senator Ross Lightfoot, LP, WA Senator Bob Brown, AG, TAS Senator Kate Lundy, ALP, ACT Senator Geoff Buckland, LP, QLD Senator Sue Mackay, ALP, TAS Senator Julian McGauran, NPA, VIC Senator George Campbell, ALP, NSW Senator Kim Carr, ALP, VIC Senator Jan McLucas, ALP, QLD Senator Grant Chapman, LP, SA Senator Kerry Nettle, AG, NSW Senator the Hon R Colbeck, LP, TAS Senator Robert Ray, ALP, VIC Senator Stephen Conroy, ALP, VIC Senator Aden Ridgeway, AD, NSW Senator Alan Eggleston, LP, WA Senator the Hon. Nick Sherry, ALP, TAS Senator Christopher Evans, ALP, WA Senator Ursula Stephens, ALP, NSW Senator the Hon. John Faulkner, ALP, NSW Senator Natasha Stott Despoja, AD, SA Senator Alan Ferguson, LP, SA Senator Tsebin Tchen, LP, VIC Senator John Watson, LP, TAS Senator Jeannie Ferris, LP, SA Senator Brian Harradine, IND, TAS

Secretariat

Mr Owen Walsh Secretary

Ms Julie Dennett Principal Research Officer
Ms Sophie Power Principal Research Officer

Ms Marina Seminara Executive Assistant (to April 2005)
Ms Judith Wuest Executive Assistant (from May 2005)

Suite S1.61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560 Fax: (02) 6277 5794

Parliament House E-mail: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Members of the Legislation Committee Abbreviations	iii vii
CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
Background	1
Conduct of the inquiry	1
Acknowledgement	2
Note on references	2
CHAPTER 2	3
OVERVIEW OF THE BILL	3
Significant provisions of the Bill	3
CHAPTER 3	5
KEY ISSUES	5
Powers of summary dismissal	5
Deterring 'unmeritorious' proceedings	11
Imposition of time limits for judicial review	23
Constitutional validity of a 'purported privative clause decision'	25
Possible alternative approaches	29
LABOR SENATORS ADDITIONAL COMMENTS	35
AUSTRALIAN DEMOCRATS DISSENTING REPORT	37
APPENDIX 1	39
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED	
APPENDIX 2	41
WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE	

ABBREVIATIONS

AAT Administrative Appeals Tribunal

ALHR Australian Lawyers for Human Rights

ARC Administrative Review Council

the Bill Migration Litigation Reform Bill 2005

DIMIA Department of Immigration and Multicultural and

Indigenous Affairs

FMC Federal Magistrates Court

HREOC Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission

the Judicial Review Bill Migration Amendment (Judicial Review) Bill 2004

the Law Council Law Council of Australia

Migration Act 1958

the Penfold Report Migration Litigation Review

QPILCH Queensland Public Interest Law Clearing House

RILC Refugee and Immigration Legal Centre

SBICLS South Brisbane Immigration and Community Legal

Service

UNHCR Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for

Refugees

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Background

- 1.1 On 16 March 2005, the Senate referred the provisions of the Migration Litigation Reform Bill 2005 to the Senate Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee for inquiry and report by 11 May 2005.
- 1.2 The Bill seeks to amend the *Migration Act 1958* (the Migration Act), the *Federal Court of Australia Act 1976*, the *Federal Magistrates Act 1999* and the *Judiciary Act 1903*, and aims to improve the overall efficiency of migration litigation.
- 1.3 The Bill is similar (although not identical) to the Migration Amendment (Judicial Review) Bill 2004 (the Judicial Review Bill) which was the subject of inquiry and report by this committee in June last year. The 2005 Bill is far more extensive than the Judicial Review Bill, which lapsed when Parliament was prorogued for the federal election in October 2004.
- 1.4 In October 2003, the Federal Government commissioned the Migration Litigation Review (the Penfold Report) conducted by Hilary Penfold QC to inquire into the efficient management of migration cases. According to the Second Reading Speech, the Bill is based on recommendations from the Penfold Report.² However, the Report has not been provided to the Committee or published. Given this, the Committee has requested a copy of the Report on several occasions.

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.5 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* newspaper on 23 March 2005, and invited submissions by 1 April 2005. Details of the inquiry, the Bill and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also wrote to over 80 organisations and individuals.
- 1.6 The committee received 25 submissions which are listed at Appendix 1. Submissions were placed on the committee's website for ease of access by the public.
- 1.7 The committee held a public hearing in Canberra on 13 April 2005. A list of witnesses who appeared at the hearing is at Appendix 2 and copies of the Hansard transcript are available through the Internet at http://aph.gov.au/hansard.

See Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004.

The Hon Philip Ruddock MP, Attorney-General, Second Reading Speech, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 10 March 2005, pp 2-3.

Acknowledgement

1.8 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing.

Note on references

1.9 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume. References to the committee Hansard are to the proof Hansard: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard transcript.

CHAPTER 2

OVERVIEW OF THE BILL

2.1 This chapter briefly outlines the main provisions of the Migration Litigation Reform Bill 2005 (the Bill).

Significant provisions of the Bill

- 2.1 The main proposals in the Bill aim to:
- direct migration cases to the Federal Magistrates Court (FMC) (Item 17);
- ensure identical grounds of review in migration cases (Item 17);
- impose uniform time limits in migration cases (Item 18 and Items 30-33);
- facilitate quicker handling of migration cases (Item 10 and Item 37); and
- deter unmeritorious applications (Items 7, 8 & 9 and Item 38).
- 2.2 The Bill also attempts to extend elements of Parts 8 and 8A of the Migration Act so that time limits on judicial review applications and the courts' jurisdiction in migration matters will apply to all decisions, even a decision that is arguably affected by jurisdictional error (a 'purported privative clause provision').

Direct migration cases to the FMC – Item 17

- 2.3 The Federal Court will have limited jurisdiction under the Migration Act in migration matters. This is restricted, first, to complex cases referred to it by the FMC and, secondly, migration cases involving judicial review of decisions of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) under section 500 of the Migration Act or decisions made personally by the Minister for Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs under sections 501, 501A, 501B or 501C of the Migration Act. This second group of migration cases involve decisions to refuse to issue or to cancel a visa, or to deport a person, on 'character' grounds.
- 2.4 Nearly all migration cases remitted from the High Court will be channelled directly to the FMC. Migration cases will only be remitted to the Federal Court where they involve judicial review of character-related decisions made by the AAT or the Minister personally.

Ensure identical grounds of review in migration cases – Item 17

- 2.5 The grounds of review in migration matters in the FMC will be the same as those in the High Court under section 75(v) of the Constitution. Section 75 of the Constitution states that the High Court has 'original jurisdiction' (the authority to hear cases) in all matters:
 - (v) in which a writ of Mandamus [directing that an officer do a certain action] or prohibition [preventing an officer from doing a certain action] or

an injunction [halting a current or future action for a period of time] is sought against an officer of the Commonwealth.

Impose uniform time limits in migration cases – Item 18 and Items 30-33

2.6 Applications to the FMC, Federal Court and the High Court must be made within 28 days of actual (not deemed) notification of a decision. The 28 day time limit can be extended by the court for a further 56 days if a request for further time is made within 84 days of actual notification of the decision, and the court is satisfied that it is in the interests of the administration of justice to extend the time limit.

Facilitate quicker handling of migration cases – Items 10 and 37

- 2.7 The Bill includes amendments which attempt to improve court processes. There is express provision for the High Court to remit migration and other cases to another court without an oral hearing.
- 2.8 When commencing a proceeding in the FMC, the Federal Court and the High Court in relation to a tribunal decision, applicants must disclose details of any previous application for judicial review in any court in relation to that decision.

Deter unmeritorious applications – Items 7, 8 & 9 and Item 38

- 2.9 The Bill aims to strengthen the power of the High Court, the Federal Court and the FMC to deal with unmeritorious proceedings by broadening the grounds on which a court can summarily dispose of proceedings. A court would be able to dispose of a matter summarily on its own initiative if it is satisfied that there are 'no reasonable prospects of success'.
- 2.10 The Bill prohibits persons, including lawyers and migration agents, from encouraging the initiation or continuation of 'unmeritorious' migration litigation, with the risk of a personal costs order for contravening this obligation. Lawyers acting for applicants in migration cases will also be required to certify at the institution of proceedings that an application has merit.

CHAPTER 3

KEY ISSUES

- 3.1 Although many submissions and witnesses were supportive of any efforts to improve the overall efficiency of migration litigation and, in particular, to reduce genuinely unmeritorious claims, the overwhelming majority of evidence received by the committee expressed strong opposition to key aspects of the Bill.
- 3.2 This chapter discusses the main issues and concerns raised in the course of the committee's inquiry, including:
- extension of the courts' power to summarily dispose of proceedings;
- the Bill's focus on deterring 'unmeritorious' proceedings, in particular provisions relating to personal liability for legal costs and 'certification' by lawyers acting for applicants in migration cases;
- imposition of time limits for judicial review of migration decisions;
- constitutionality of the term 'purported privative clause decision'; and
- possible alternative approaches to the Bill.

Powers of summary dismissal

- 3.3 Many submissions and witnesses were critical of provisions in the Bill which expand the power of the courts to dismiss migration cases summarily where there are 'no reasonable prospects of success'. For example, the Queensland Public Interest Law Clearing House (QPILCH) and the South Brisbane Immigration and Community Legal Service (SBICLS) were strongly opposed to such provisions, arguing that the provisions 'represent a significant shift away from the legal principles which have traditionally governed summary dismissal of actions'. Others agreed that the Bill moves away from 'the carefully constructed common law test, which requires that a case be manifestly groundless', or hopeless or bound to fail.
- 3.4 Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul from the Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law explained that the higher common law threshold 'ensures that cases are not disposed of prematurely, before all the evidence has become available during the proceedings on the merits'. Further, they argued that '(r)equiring a

¹ *Submission 11*, p. 7.

For example, Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul, Submission 14, p. 4.

For example, Australian Lawyers for Human Rights, Submission 19, p. 2.

⁴ *Submission 14*, p. 4.

reasonable prospect of success risks depriving applicants of a fair opportunity to mount a case'.⁵

3.5 Professor Williams and Dr Saul also pointed out that broadened powers of summary dismissal would have long-term consequences:

Particularly where public interest test cases are being run to challenge accepted interpretations of the law, there may be 'no reasonable prospect of success' in the immediate case, but the litigation may contribute in important ways to the future evolution of common law principles. Discouraging litigation where there is no reasonable prospect of success risks chilling the progressive development of the law, and stymieing the correction of bad precedents.⁶

- 3.6 Australian Lawyers for Human Rights (ALHR) submitted that the existing common law test for summary dismissal 'is entirely adequate to identify cases without reasonable prospects of success and allow others to be fully argued' and that '(t)he new legislative test set out in the Bill is unclear and will, in fact, result in further litigation to test its limits'. 8
- 3.7 The Refugee Advocacy Service of South Australia noted the possible adverse impact on refugees:

...migration law can be very complex and therefore the current safeguards on the use of summary judgement are even more pertinent to these cases to avoid the injustice of summarily restricting a person's right to have their day in court. Even more so because of the potential for a forced return of refuges to persecution including torture, imprisonment and death.⁹

3.8 At the hearing, Ms Nitra Kidson from QPILCH told the committee that existing summary dismissal powers have been used to dismiss cases where, for example, applications were not supported by sufficient evidence or applications where the matters have previously unsuccessfully litigated.¹⁰ She argued that the Federal Government's justification for the Bill in this respect is therefore questionable:

Those are the very types of cases of which the government complains, and the courts have demonstrated that under existing powers they are more than prepared to summarily dismiss them...Before it goes about seeking to increase those powers it is incumbent upon the government to at least test the limits of the existing powers and to demonstrate where they are deficient. What cases does the government say are not being dismissed

6 *Submission 14*, p. 4.

⁵ *Submission 14*, p. 4.

⁷ Submission *19*, p. 8.

⁸ Submission *19*, p. 8.

⁹ Submission *I*, p. 1.

¹⁰ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 20.

summarily that should be dismissed summarily? Tell us the details and nature of those cases and explain how the interests of justice are served by having those cases dismissed without a full hearing.¹¹

3.9 Further, QPILCH and SBICLS submitted that the summary dismissal provisions in the Bill were perplexing since the Federal Government has rarely sought summary dismissal of migration cases in the Federal Court but, in cases where it has pursued summary dismissal, has enjoyed high rates of success. They noted that their research shows that there have been 'only four cases where the Minister sought summary dismissal, and the Minister was successful in three of those cases'. At the hearing, Ms Kidson from QPILCH told the committee that her own research indicated that:

...out of about 450 decisions made by the full court...around 55 or 60 [were]...cases that would probably have been amenable to summary judgment. They were cases where the applicant never at any stage really articulated a case, did not submit any further material, was unrepresented and often did not appear at a hearing, yet those were cases that were allowed to proceed to a final hearing. I cannot say why that happened. Again, it seems to be in contrast to the practice in the Federal Magistrates Court. Otherwise, that is a question that only the government could answer.¹⁴

3.10 Therefore, QPILCH and SBICLS argued that it could be inferred that:

It is...the apparent under-utilisation of the existing summary dismissal procedures - rather than any inadequacy in the powers themselves - which has contributed to the problem of grossly unmeritorious cases proceeding to a full hearing.¹⁵

3.11 Ms Debra Mortimer, representing the Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar offered an explanation as to why the powers of summary dismissal are rarely invoked by the Minister:

All federal courts have summary dismissal provisions as a matter of course. They are rarely invoked by the minister in these kinds of proceedings. If one asks why, then in my experience the answer is that it is because it is not possible to say independently and confidently that a case is manifestly hopeless. Anglo-Australian law has long respected, considered and entrenched an approach to letting people have access to the courts on the merits of their cases. The Bar and PILCH think that is an important principle that ought not to be cast aside. This area is littered with examples

13 *Submission 11*, p. 12.

¹¹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 20.

¹² *Submission 11*, p. 14.

¹⁴ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 21.

¹⁵ Submission 11, p. 14.

where, if one proceeds on the law as it is today, one might say that a particular argument or claim is hopeless, and then a decision will come down tomorrow that will tell, for example, the full Federal Court that it is wrong. ¹⁶

3.12 The Law Council of Australia (the Law Council) expressed its general reluctance to support any lowering of the standard for summary dismissal of proceedings and argued that:

...if there is a problem being experienced in one area of immigration decision making, attention should be paid to that area, with consideration being given to the reasons behind the problem being experienced. There would appear to be no justification for heavy handed provisions that are of general application.¹⁷

3.13 At the hearing, Professor Mary Crock on behalf of the Law Council argued that:

By introducing this legislation across all of the courts, I think the danger is that it looks as though the legislation is attempting to direct the courts to knock out cases at the risk, I think, of restricting a vital part of the judicial function.¹⁸

3.14 In its submission, the Law Council argued further that:

The provisions are of particular concern in the context of proposals to deter unmeritorious appeals. The combined effect of the scheme proposed may be to stifle the development of the Common Law in the immigration area. The system proposed could have the effect of making it difficult for a lower court to consider a novel submission on a point of law where an adverse precedent has been set by a higher court.¹⁹

3.15 At the hearing, Professor Crock stated that this would have the effect of pushing cases up to the higher courts:

It will have exactly the opposite effect to the one intended. The common law depends for its development on courts being allowed to consider cases that, on their face, may not look promising. Lower courts have to be able to consider matters and explore the avenues that are there.²⁰

3.16 The Attorney-General's Department's response to the concern that the Bill would discourage novel or test cases was as follows:

18 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 10.

20 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 10.

¹⁶ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 35.

¹⁷ *Submission 21*, p. 9.

¹⁹ *Submission 21*, p. 9.

The view of the government is that in novel and test cases there is always something arguable in the circumstances of the case, which means that the court would not be satisfied that there is no reasonable prospect of success. Accordingly, an adviser would not be at risk of a cost order in those cases and the summary dismissal provisions would not be activated. It is important to read these provisions in the context of a legal system with the key characteristic that all statutory provisions are subject to judicial interpretation and that this is an evolving process. That feeds into the construction of these provisions.²¹

- 3.17 Several submissions also pointed out that the Bill introduces new summary dismissal powers which appear to apply to *all* applications before the High Court, the Federal Court and the FMC, not just those relating to migration.²² The Administrative Review Council noted that 'the short title to the Bill gives no indication of this dimension to the Bill, a situation only assisted to a degree by its long title'.²³
- 3.18 The New South Wales Bar Association argued that the Bill should be clearer in defining the circumstances in which the courts should be able to summarily dismiss proceedings:

...the opportunity now exists for greater specificity in the proposed provisions referred to above: much court time and parties' expense will be spared if the Parliament were now to make it clearer which of the range of meanings of the expression 'reasonable prospect of success' was intended. The matter has more particular significance in the present bill because the expression is also central to the provisions that impose new obligations on advisers and a new potential liability for costs orders against advisers in migration litigation.²⁴

3.19 Ms Kidson from QPILCH agreed that the Bill lacks clarity, not only in relation to its summary dismissal provisions, but also with respect to the way in which other provisions in the Bill would operate:

The bill changes the bar without defining it. I guess that is the other objection we have to the bill: with the summary dismissal provisions and with the same bar for summary dismissals applied to the potential liability for costs, it tells us that the bar we all know does not apply, but it does not tell us what the new bar is. So it tells us that all the court cases where there is talk about them being doomed to failure, having no real prospect of success et cetera, do not apply. It gives us absolutely no guidance as to what the new test is, and yet from the moment of commencement of the act lawyers—and who knows who else the bill is meant to be applied to,

24 *Submission 20*, p. 3.

²¹ *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, pp 46-47.

For example, see QPILCH and SBICLS, *Submission 11*, p. 7; Administrative Review Council, *Submission 6*, p. 2.

²³ *Submission* 6, p. 2.

because it is not limited to lawyers—are having to structure the advice they give and make decisions about who they help and who they do not help without any idea what this new bar is. It is ironic that a bill whose object is to reduce litigation contains so many ambiguous provisions that scream for judicial scrutiny. It is absolutely ironic.²⁵

3.20 Ms Suhad Kamand from the Immigration Advice and Rights Centre agreed that the Bill, as a whole, contains very little guidance for those dealing with its practical repercussions:

What the explanatory memorandum has said...is that there is an obligation to assess whether something has a reasonable prospect of success. The legislation tells us that it need not be hopeless or bound to fail for it to have no reasonable prospects of success, but the explanatory memorandum indicates that a greater degree of flexibility is given to the courts than has been in the case law to date. There is no guidance as to how flexible the courts should be or what should guide that flexibility. The intimidating nature of the legislation would have the effect of decreasing the willingness of practitioners to advise in this area until some case law is established that would set some parameters to these obligations.²⁶

- 3.21 However, the Administrative Review Council (ARC) was of the view that 'there would be little risk of the courts interpreting the proposed summary judgment provisions rashly or without careful regard to countervailing access to justice principles' since this area of law is one in which, 'having regard to fundamental principles of access to justice, the courts have traditionally trodden a careful path.' 28
- 3.22 At the hearing, Mr Wayne Martin QC, President of the ARC, elaborated on the reasons for the ARC's support of the summary dismissal provisions in the Bill:

The reason we support that expansion of the scope of summary judgment is that the principles concerning the traditional enunciation of the reluctance of the courts to dismiss a case without it being fully heard, as found in High Court cases like Dey and the Victorian Railways Commissioners and General Steel, evolved in quite a different era and quite a different litigious context, an era in which there was a lot less litigation and a lot less pressure on limited judicial resources. The world has changed significantly since those statements were made, in that there has been, relatively speaking, a torrent of litigation in all jurisdictions which has placed significant pressure on limited judicial resources. My own view is that that requires a reassessment of the principle to ensure that we are allocating those limited judicial resources as efficiently as possible. In that context, if a case has no reasonable prospect of success, it seems to us to be in everybody's

28 Submission 6, p. 2.

²⁵ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 24.

²⁶ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 27.

²⁷ Submission 6, p. 2.

interests—the interests of the parties, the court and the public in the efficient allocation of the resources of the court—that the fact be recognised sooner rather than later ²⁹

The committee's view

3.23 The committee acknowledges that extended powers of summary dismissal under the Bill represent a significant departure from the existing common law test. While the committee notes the comments of the ARC, in particular that the courts would in all likelihood exercise caution in relation to the extended power, the committee expresses its serious concerns in relation to such an extension. The committee also notes evidence that the courts' existing extensive powers of summary dismissal are rarely used. Therefore, the committee concludes that the broadened powers of summary dismissal must be subject to review by Parliament after an initial period of operation. To ensure that this occurs, the committee's view is that the Bill should be amended to provide that the relevant provisions of the Bill shall cease to have effect after 18 months of operation.

Recommendation 1

3.1 The committee recommends that the Bill be amended to provide that the proposed provisions in Items 7, 8 and 9 of the Bill that confer the broadened powers of summary dismissal are repealed at the end of 18 months from the date of their commencement.

Deterring 'unmeritorious' proceedings

3.24 The committee received evidence which expressed strong opposition to the provisions relating to the deterrence of 'unmeritorious' proceedings. For example, Ms Suhad Kamand from the Immigration Advice and Rights Centre told the committee that, at a fundamental level, the Bill is flawed because it assumes that since the Federal Government wins approximately 93 per cent of judicial review applications then it automatically follows that 93 per cent of cases are 'unmeritorious':

We strongly object to the much used ill-defined and empirically unsupported assumption by those promoting the bill that the high volume of migration litigation is due primarily to unmeritorious migration litigation. In our view that sort of analysis is unhelpful and simplifies the causes of the high volume of migration litigation unfairly by reference to one cause. ³⁰

3.25 Ms Debra Mortimer, representing the Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar commented on the inappropriate use of the word 'unmeritorious' in the Second Reading Speech and the Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill:

²⁹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 15.

³⁰ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 25.

Our position on that is that it is a value laden word that is really inappropriate to use in this kind of situation. It is an especially inappropriate criticism when there is such a paucity of funding for representation of asylum seekers. People who are in this position are not the best judges of whether they have meritorious administrative law claims.³¹

3.26 In its submission, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) argued that:

...a cautious approach is warranted in seeking to reduce unmeritorious litigation in asylum cases. Measures that may have the unintended affect of discouraging applications that are not certain of success, but are nonetheless not abusive, may detract from what is currently a positive aspect of Australia's system.³²

3.27 UNHCR also noted that since Australian migration law is complex, '(t)here is no "bright line" separating meritorious and unmeritorious court applications'. Further:

In UNHCR's view, it would be unfortunate if asylum seekers and their legal advisers were discouraged from applying to the Court in cases of this nature, particularly where the outcome may have implications not only for the individual, but also for asylum seekers in general, and may also serve to clarify the law. Similarly, summary dismissal of such cases would seem to be inappropriate. This issue could be addressed by amending the items in the bill that rely on the "no reasonable prospects of success" formulation, to make it clear that cases raising significant questions of law are not intended to be subject to those provisions.³⁴

3.28 HREOC argued that the effect of the 'unmeritorious' provisions of the Bill could be devastating and may have the opposite effect to that intended in improving the efficiency of proceedings where litigation has already commenced:

...this is one of the key things that we are concerned about—not only is that person deprived of legal advice but the court is deprived of somebody who can make sense of what is potentially a morass of facts that really require a lawyer to refine and present them in their proper order and in their proper form so that a court can apply the act to them and make sense of the application. So, in our view, the provision of legal advice potentially makes the proceedings more efficient. Insofar as the provisions of the bill lead in the opposite direction, that seems to have an undesirable result to us.³⁵

33 Submission 3, p. 2.

35 Mr Craig Lenehan, HREOC, Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 6.

³¹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 34.

³² *Submission 3*, p. 2.

³⁴ Submission 3, p. 3.

Personal liability for legal costs

3.29 Many submissions and witnesses expressed apprehension about the provision of the Bill dealing with personal liability for legal costs. Submissions and witnesses were concerned about the breadth of the provision and its potential capacity to create unnecessary apprehension for lawyers and others who assist, advise and act for disadvantaged clients in migration matters.

3.30 For example, QPILCH and SBICLS argued that:

The provisions relating to personal liability for legal costs are highly ambiguous, needlessly broad, and have significant potential to discourage lawyers from representing and assisting applicants with complex or uncertain cases, particularly where legal services are required on a pro bono basis.³⁶

3.31 Professor Mary Crock from the Law Council told the committee that there were two main problems with the costs order provision of the Bill:

I think the point is that in other contexts the focus is on the cost order against somebody who is plainly responsible for the carriage of proceedings, namely, a solicitor on the record. There are two problems with this section of the bill. The first is that the cost order is tied to the definition of unmeritorious; it is not disconnected from the provisions relating to what constitutes an unmeritorious decision. The second aspect of it is its breadth and the fact that it does not just capture, if you like, the person who might have the carriage of litigation before a court. It covers any person.³⁷

3.32 In evidence, Professor Williams agreed that the provision is an overly broad approach to addressing problems of protracted or unworthy judicial review litigation:

In general, I support the idea of cost orders being available to courts in circumstances where there is an abuse of process or a range of other matters that ought to lead to special types of costs or even damages being awarded. The problem with this is that it does go far beyond the carefully constructed limits that have been imposed. I am concerned at the absence of an appropriate knowledge requirement on the person who might be 'encouraging' another person. It may be possible that something said without knowledge that might not be seen as normally giving rise to any legal consequences in this case might. You can imagine many circumstances where well-meaning people might make comments encouraging people, and it is not normally accepted that that should lead to these types of cost orders.³⁸

37 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 12.

³⁶ Submission 11, p. II.

³⁸ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 30.

3.33 The New South Wales Bar Association argued that the costs order provision contains no clarity:

...there is no clarity in relation to the matters...reasonable prospects of success, 'encourage', 'proper consideration', 'purpose' and 'the objectives which the court process is designed to achieve'. The courts should not be left to work out the content of these expressions over time and to the prejudice of litigants and advisers.³⁹

- 3.34 Further, the New South Wales Bar Association argued that a lawyer should not be penalised under the provision 'where a lawyer explains any weaknesses in the proposed migration litigation to his or her client but the client, having considered those weaknesses, decides to commence or continue the migration litigation'. 40
- 3.35 Dr Ben Saul agreed that the provision could be interpreted broadly, but that the courts may also exercise caution in this area:

I agree with the analysis that the word 'encourage' could be interpreted broadly. I think there is a real prospect that a court probably would interpret it as narrowly as it could, given the manifest problems that would arise. The word 'encourage' is used so broadly that you can imagine all sorts of situations that would be covered by it. Even forms of moral encouragement could be covered—for example, wishing somebody the best in their forthcoming litigation or encouraging them to continue with that litigation in the hope that it leads to a better life for someone. I think on a normal reading it could lead to the inclusion of those types of activities. As I say, it is possible a court would read it narrowly, but it may not work that way.⁴¹

3.36 Mr Wayne Martin QC, from the ARC, also conceded that the provision is very broad but, despite not expressly including certain protections and reassurances, would in all likelihood be interpreted narrowly by the courts:

There is a reasonable basis for criticism of its breadth. The only constraints upon it are, firstly, the requirement that the litigation has no reasonable prospect of success and, secondly, that the person against whom a costs order is made must have a purpose which is unrelated to the objectives which the court process is designed to achieve. Viewing that with my lawyer's glasses on, I would read that as: pursuit of litigation for an improper purpose. That is why I give it a more constrained reading than a number of the submitters.⁴²

3.37 Some constitutional issues were also raised in relation to this provision. For instance, Professor Williams told the committee that:

40 Submission 20, p. 6.

41 *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, p. 31.

³⁹ *Submission 20*, p. 6.

⁴² Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 17.

I am troubled by the possibility of a court making an order in a matter against people who are not parties to the matter and not normally seen as connected to the matter. I can see the possibility of constitutional issues arising from that in that it arguably extends beyond the power of the court to make orders beyond that group of people, particularly to people who clearly here would be third parties in that they do not actually have any active involvement in the litigation.⁴³

- 3.38 The committee also received argument that the costs order provision may also be unconstitutional because it *directs* a court to consider whether a personal costs order should be made. The Co-ordination Committee, Refugee Action Coalition NSW argued that this would amount to 'an unconstitutional intrusion into federal judicial power'⁴⁴ since the Constitution 'delineates a clear separation of powers between the legislative and judicial branches of government'.⁴⁵
- 3.39 Some of the possible adverse effects of the costs order provision were raised with the committee. QPILCH and SBICLS submitted that:

The great irony, and tragedy, of the proposed scheme is that it will discourage representation in borderline or difficult cases – *the very cases that most require skilled advocacy* – and achieve very little in the way of reducing grossly unmeritorious litigation, given...that the overwhelming majority of applicants in unmeritorious litigation are self-represented.⁴⁶

3.40 The Law Council agreed:

In cases where applicants may have a case which rests on the boundaries of established law this will deter solicitors or legal services from taking these cases and testing the established law, and supporting possibly vulnerable and meritorious applicants because of the possibility of these financial penalties.⁴⁷

3.41 Many submissions emphasised the capacity of the Bill to impact negatively on free legal advice regimes such as the pro bono scheme run by the Federal Court or by law societies, as well as on specialist immigration advice agencies.⁴⁸ The National Pro Bono Resource Centre contended that:

...these amendments may operate as a significant impediment to access to justice for migration applicants, and will act as a disincentive to the provision of pro bono legal services for such applicants. Practitioners may be willing to act for a person without charging a fee, but may well be

45 *Submission 2*, p. 5.

⁴³ *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, pp 30-31.

⁴⁴ Submission 2, p. 5.

⁴⁶ *Submission 11*, p. 16.

⁴⁷ *Submission 21*, p. 10.

⁴⁸ For example, see Law Council of Australia, *Submission 21*, p. 11.

unwilling to expose themselves to what may be perceived as an enhanced risk of personal liability for doing so. These amendments are likely to have a 'chilling effect' on their willingness to provide pro bono legal services.⁴⁹

3.42 The Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils of Australia agreed:

The possibility of imposing costs orders against lawyers and voluntary organisations will, we believe, discourage lawyers from conducting pro bono work, make it impossible for voluntary organisations and non government organisations to support people through judicial review processes and remove this important safeguard. 50

3.43 The Law Society of South Australia expressed a similar view:

The threat of costs orders is likely to result in pro bono efforts coming to a halt. The Commonwealth might think that this will give them an advantage in litigation but we submit that it will result in a huge upsurge in numbers of unrepresented litigants and increased burden on the judicial system with consequent delays. It will achieve the opposite to the outcome allegedly desired.⁵¹

- 3.44 Some submissions argued that voluntary organisations and lawyers acting on a pro bono basis should be exempted from the operation of this part of the Bill.⁵²
- 3.45 However, the ARC disagreed with this view. At the hearing, its president, Mr Wayne Martin QC, offered this explanation for the ARC's assessment of the possible effects on the operation of pro bono legal services:

The reason I disagree with the proposition that the mere passage of the bill will choke off that important resource is that I find it very difficult to conceive of a circumstance in which, under this bill, a pro bono lawyer who has acted in good faith would be at any appreciable risk of having a costs order made against him or her. I cannot see that a lawyer acting properly in accordance with our normal professional obligation and particularly in a pro bono context would be at any risk of a judicial order. It would only be the most extraordinary case and a case that would probably lead to the conclusion that the lawyer had acted unprofessionally. That is the only circumstance in which a costs order would be made. 53

3.46 Mr Martin continued:

If the bodies that have engaged in giving this service looked carefully at the legislation and applied it to the services they provide I think they would

⁴⁹ *Submission 12*, p. 4.

⁵⁰ Submission 5, p. 5.

⁵¹ Submission 4, p. 3.

For example, see Law Society of South Australia, *Submission 4*, p. 3; Legal Services Commission of South Australia, *Submission 13*, p. 4.

⁵³ *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, pp 16-17.

come to the conclusion that they would be at no appreciable risk of an order—especially in the pro bono context. I can imagine a judge taking a harsher view of a lawyer who was motivated by profit in pursuing a case that had no reasonable prospect of success. A pro bono adviser cannot have that motive.⁵⁴

3.47 At the hearing, a representative from the Attorney-General's Department argued that pro bono lawyers are not at risk of cost orders if they are acting properly and in accordance with their professional obligations:

The government's view is that whether pro bono assistance has been provided or the lawyers are acting for a fee, lawyers who present properly prepared arguments, including raising novel arguments, have no reason for concern if they have given proper regard to the law and facts as they apply in these individual cases, so that pro bono lawyers are at no disadvantage under these provisions.⁵⁵

3.48 Some submissions and evidence expressed the view that there were existing ways in which the Federal Government could seek to deter engagement in 'unmeritorious' litigation, namely through broader professional conduct obligations. As Ms Debra Mortimer SC from the Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar argued though, it would be imperative as a starting point, to ascertain precisely to whom the personal obligation and penalty provisions in the Bill are principally directed:

If they are principally directed towards, for example, counsel, I think that is offensive, completely unnecessary and does not reflect how counsel practise in this area. If they are directed towards lawyers in general, my experience, again, is that I do not know of lawyers that support or continue migration litigation for secondary purposes or anything like that. If there is evidence of that then perhaps something needs to be done. But the point is that there may be other ways in which one ought to attack individual lawyers who are supporting those kinds of practices, and that is through their professional conduct obligations—and the same with migration agents. If it is directed to a different category of person—people that are standing behind applicants—again, I am not aware from my experience of any evidence of that being the case. ⁵⁶

3.49 Others also supported the view that the costs order provision is unnecessary. For example, ALHR submitted that:

Lawyers are already bound by a professional obligation and a duty to the Courts not to pursue causes of action that have no reasonable prospects of success. The imposition of specific costs orders appears aimed at

⁵⁴ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 17.

⁵⁵ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 47.

⁵⁶ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 36.

intimidating lawyers rather than improving access by asylum seekers to proper legal advice as to the merits of their claim.⁵⁷

3.50 Similarly, Ms Nitra Kidson from QPILCH told the committee that:

In relation to the imposition of liability for legal costs, again we do not believe the government can point to any evidence that lawyers and other persons are encouraging applicants to abuse the legal system. The explanatory memorandum talks about advisers operating behind the scenes, but I have to ask: how does the government know what goes on behind the scenes?...Where there is abuse by practitioners, if it can be identified as a matter of reality not as conjecture, the courts already have a general discretion to award costs personally against lawyers and they have done so in the past where they have been satisfied it is appropriate. There are professional bodies whose job is to deal with any systemic conduct which is unprofessional or unbecoming. Migration lawyers, particularly, are probably the most regulated lawyers in the country because they are subject to both their own state law societies as well as the national migration agents authority.⁵⁸

3.51 ALHR suggested that a more preferable way of combating the perceived problem might be to change the restrictions on representation of migration claims:

Qualified solicitors cannot provide any advice under the *Migration Act* 1958, even on a *pro bono* basis, unless they are a registered migration agent. However, anyone can become a registered migration agent after a short—but expensive—course that does not necessarily equip people to deal with the complexities of refugee law.

A preferable system would be to have lawyers with specialist training in representing asylum seekers conducting all asylum seeker cases (other than those where the claimant is unrepresented). ⁵⁹

3.52 However, despite acknowledging some concerns about the breadth and effect of the costs order provision, Mr Wayne Martin QC from the ARC told the committee that, in his view, the courts would exercise caution in interpreting it:

On balance, we came to the conclusion that one could have some confidence that the court in implementing these provisions would act sensibly and in a reserved way and would not exercise the power to award costs against a third party other than in an appropriate case, which would essentially be a case involving some significant element of abuse and culpability on the part of the person against whom the costs order is made. ⁶⁰

58 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 21.

60 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 16.

⁵⁷ *Submission 19*, p. 1.

⁵⁹ *Submission 19*, pp 6-7.

- 3.53 At the hearing, the committee questioned the Attorney-General's Department and the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs (DIMIA) in relation to concerns raised during the inquiry such as perceptions that the Bill is an attack on the legal profession; the breadth of the provision; the uncertain practical impact of the provision; and the necessary steps that should be taken to minimise the risks of being caught by it.
- 3.54 The representatives sought to clarify the operation of the provisions. For example:

The provision has a number of conditions in it for it to operate and, as you say, it is expressed in terms that a person must not encourage the litigant to commence or continue migration litigation. In the government's view, merely advising a person about their prospects of success—or examining their case to ascertain what their prospects of success are and to advise them of them—is not encouraging them to pursue litigation. Encouraging a person is urging or advising or assisting them to actually do something. In this case it is to actually commence or continue litigation, as distinct from advising them about the prospects of their case. So if a person does take it upon themselves to actually encourage or urge a person to pursue litigation, the person does have an obligation imposed by this provision to consider whether or not there are reasonable prospects of success and to give proper consideration to the prospects of success in a case.⁶¹

3.55 The representatives also drew the committee's attention to the fact that the Bill gives a person the opportunity to argue why a costs order should not be made and inform the court of their precise role in the relevant proceedings. ⁶² They also emphasised the need for evidence of the nature of the person's involvement in the proceedings:

As to the extent to which they help and assist and encourage, the issue that very much comes out here is precisely what they have done in the circumstances and whether the court believes it appropriate in the circumstances to make that costs order. An important safeguard that is in the bill, of course, is proposed section 486G—that before a costs order can be made, the court has to give the person an opportunity to argue why it should not be made. So they do have the opportunity to come and explain precisely what their role is. If it is a situation where they have merely provided some advice that there is this capacity to go to a court, without making any judgements or taking it further to actually directing the person to the court—and it can happen at times that they do direct these people to the court—then, once again, given the court's cautious approach to these matters, it is unlikely that a costs order would be made. 63

⁶¹ Committee Hansard. 13 April 2005, p. 43.

⁶² Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 44.

⁶³ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 44.

- 3.56 The departmental representatives were also questioned on how the provision would apply to non-legally trained or experienced persons who 'encouraged' an applicant to bring a case. The committee was concerned as to how non-lawyers such as volunteers working at a refugee support centre could make an appropriate assessment of the reasonable prospects of success of a legal case and, thereby, avoid the risk of having cost awarded against them. The representatives argued that:
 - ...[there is] a distinction between a person who is actually encouraging this particular litigation and a person who is advising a person on the process, advising a person that there is this possibility, but not encouraging that person to pursue that specific litigation. In general a person who is advising like that will be saying: 'This is how you go about it. It is up to you to work at whether you have a chance of success in this litigation.' 64
- 3.57 Notwithstanding this, the committee fails to see how any court could reasonably be expected to determine that a non-legally trained or experienced volunteer at a refugee centre can adequately appreciate the reasonable prospects of success in the court case. The committee also remains concerned that the practical result of the proposed provisions will be to discourage people from helping refugees and migrants. This is notwithstanding assurances by departmental representatives that this is not the Federal Government's intention.

Certification requirement

3.58 Many submissions and witnesses were highly critical of the certification requirement in the Bill and its interaction with the provisions relating to personal liability for costs. For example, Ms Debra Mortimer SC, representing the Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar (herself a barrister working with asylum seekers in judicial review proceedings), gave the committee an insight into the practicalities of migration law cases:

It is really inappropriate to ask lawyers to make a judgment about reasonable prospects of success in this area at the moment when a proceeding is issued. That is for a number of reasons. It has to do with the fluidity of the law itself in this area; but it also has to do with the reality of the way litigation is conducted. For drafters of these provisions to ask for such a certification, I think just demonstrates that they have no idea what happens in practice in this area. You do not sit down with these clients and have comfortable long conversations over days and weeks. You do not have access to all the information that was before the tribunal. Sometimes you might only see the RRT [Refugee Review Tribunal] decision the day before the time limit is about to run out. You cannot make a judgment of that kind in those kinds of circumstances; that is not to say that that judgment is not made. In my experience it is made regularly, carefully and bona fide. And it is made before the trial, in my experience, by counsel who appear for applicants, but you cannot necessarily do it on the day that you issue the

application. To impose that onerous responsibility on lawyers I think is highly inappropriate. ⁶⁵

3.59 Further, Ms Mortimer told the committee that, in her experience, lawyers and barristers do their utmost to ensure that proceedings in which they are involved are not 'unmeritorious'.

I do not have any experience of lawyers who have continued cases that they think are manifestly hopeless. In fact, I have the opposite experience. I have experience regularly of junior counsel ringing me to have anxious discussions about how they are going to tell clients for whom they are acting pro bono that they cannot continue to act for them because, having looked at all the material, they are not able to say that they have an arguable point. My experience in practice is that lawyers do precisely the opposite of what this bill in these provisions contemplates they do. ⁶⁶

3.60 QPILCH and SBILCS noted that the Bill 'does not appear to contemplate the scenario where a lawyer's view of the proceedings changes subsequent to giving the certification'.⁶⁷ In particular:

...if strict time limits are imposed, migration proceedings must often be commenced prior to an applicant's file becoming available under Freedom of Information legislation, and before a transcript of tribunal proceedings can be prepared. It is quite possible that a lawyer's view of the merits of an application will change throughout the progress of the case as more information comes to light. If a client's case is perceived to weaken, will the lawyer be obliged to withdraw their representation, notwithstanding the resulting prejudice to the client? Does the lawyer have to withdraw the certification previously given?⁶⁸

- 3.61 QPILCH and SBILCS also pointed out '(t)here will be many situations in which an application will have reasonable prospects of success, but where the litigation is nevertheless justified'. Furthermore, the test is an objective one and, as Ms Kidson from QPILCH argued in evidence, 'the minister and the courts get the benefit of hindsight, the benefit of full argument, the benefit of all the evidence to make that judgment and to penalise the applicant's lawyer for failing to arrive at the same conclusion as themselves'. To
- 3.62 Ms Suhad Kamand from the Immigration and Rights Legal Centre told the committee that this was unrealistic:

68 *Submission 11*, p. 18.

⁶⁵ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 35.

⁶⁶ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 35.

⁶⁷ Submission 11, p. 18.

⁶⁹ Submission 11, p. 19.

⁷⁰ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 23.

The risk is when circumstances change after provision of the certification. When looked at together with the strict time limits, practitioners will have in effect less than 28 days to fully assess a case and provide a certification. A freedom of information request takes around three to four months to process. So the limitation periods, when looked at together with the certification and the obligations on practitioners at the early stages of contemplating litigation, are just unrealistic.⁷¹

3.63 The Law Council's view of the certification requirement was as follows:

The Law Council has consistently expressed the view that legislation requiring the certification of proceedings should be carefully framed to ensure that fear of the risks of failure in litigation of a case which, for example, may seem hopeless on the current state of the law should not prevent the bringing of that litigation where it is proper to test the limits of what might otherwise be thought to be settled law. It can be expected that the courts will exercise the power conferred on them by such sections judicially and not capriciously. However, the controversy surrounding the conduct of migration litigation in recent years suggests that if the Bill is passed, it is in the field of migration law that the scope of the solicitor's certificate, the solicitor's duty on giving such a certificate and the concept of "unmeritorious litigation" is likely to be given flesh and substance.⁷²

3.64 The Law Council also made the point that if the Federal Government's concern is 'unmeritorious' litigation in a broad sense, then certification provisions should apply across all jurisdictions. Otherwise the insertion of such provisions in just one area 'creates the impression that the government is trying to drive lawyers out of immigration cases'.⁷³

The committee's view

- 3.65 In the committee's view, the evidence presented by representatives from both the Attorney-General's Department and DIMIA did little to allay concerns raised in relation to the 'unmeritorious' proceedings provisions of the Bill. In particular, the representatives were not able to adequately explain how these provisions would operate in practice, nor how people would be able to determine whether in fact their actions are covered by the Bill.
- 3.66 The committee remains concerned that too many terms in the relevant provisions are undefined and therefore have the potential to operate extremely broadly. This would in turn create considerable uncertainty for those dealing with the practical operation of the Bill, including barristers, lawyers (including those lawyers working on a pro bono basis), and not-for-profit immigration and community organisations.

72

⁷¹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 28.

⁷² Submission 21, p. 10.

⁷³ *Submission 21*, pp 10-11.

- 3.67 The committee is also mindful of evidence suggesting that one of the major adverse impacts of the Bill would be the reluctance of people to assist others with judicial review applications due to the threat of a costs order being made in the future, as well as 'certification' requirements that seemingly do not take into account the realities of work in this area. The committee notes arguments that serious long-term consequences could be the result of such measures.
- 3.68 The committee's view is that, subject to the recommendations made elsewhere in this report, the regime proposed by the Bill ought to be allowed to operate for a relatively short period after which its operation and impact can be reviewed and evaluated. To this end, a report on the first 12 month's operation of the Act should be prepared and presented to Parliament. This report will, among other things, inform Parliament's consideration of any amendments to extend the operation of the summary dismissal powers beyond 18 months (see Recommendation 1 above).

Recommendation 2

3.2 The committee recommends that the Bill be amended to insert a requirement that, as soon as practicable after the end of 12 months from the date of the Bill's commencement, the Minister must cause to be laid before each House of Parliament a comprehensive report on the operation of the provisions of the Bill.

Imposition of time limits for judicial review

- 3.69 The issue of time limits for judicial review applications was raised in the committee's inquiry into the Judicial Review Bill in 2004.⁷⁴ The committee examined this issue in detail in the course of that inquiry and, accordingly, will only deal briefly with it in the current report.
- 3.70 Many submissions and witnesses expressed opposition to the notion of time limits for judicial review applications. While not objecting to the issue of time limits per se, many argued that the Bill should contain discretion to extend time limits in cases where the interests of justice require it. Further, some contended that there is little evidence suggesting that matters commenced in or out of time are more or less likely to be meritorious. To
- 3.71 The Refugee and Immigration Legal Centre (RILC) submitted that it was 'fundamentally opposed to the provisions of the Bill which...seek to introduce a

See Senate Legal and Constitutional Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, pp 16-24.

See, for example, Mr Craig Lenehan, HREOC, Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 4.

See, for example, Mr Jonathon Hunyor, HREOC, Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 6.

regime of strict, non-extendable time limits for applicants seeking judicial review of migration decisions'. 77 RILC also contended that:

...the Bill fundamentally fails to properly distinguish between meritorious and unmeritorious applications for judicial review by applying the nonextendable time limits to all applicants. All will be caught by the provisions regardless of the merit of the case or reasons for delay. In our submission arbitrary and absolute time limits are a crude and inflexible instrument inherently incapable of operating fairly and doing justice in many circumstances 78

3.72 Mr Jonathon Hunyor from HREOC outlined its concerns as follows:

> The bill proposes, in effect, an absolute time limit of 84 days. The commission submits that there is no sufficient reason to deny an extension of time beyond this period where the interests of justice require it. To do otherwise is, with respect, to make a clear and conscious decision to put efficiency before justice. The commission submits that parliament ought not to do so, especially where there is a potential for refoulement in which the stakes are potentially life and death. Cases commenced out of time are not necessarily lacking in merit, and courts have made it clear on a number of occasions that strict time limits may result in justice being denied...

3.73 The Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils of Australia agreed:

> Time limits must be flexible enough to ensure that litigants are able to access information to support their claims for permanent residence, and to effectively brief their legal representatives. We therefore have some real concerns that the time limits proposed under...the Bill will prevent some applicants form exercising their right to judicial review.⁸⁰

- 3.74 The committee also received evidence questioning the constitutional validity of imposing non-discretionary, absolute time limits for the judicial review of migration decisions since the time limit would operate in cases where the applicant could otherwise successfully argue that a decision is infected with jurisdictional error and that, at law, no decision under the Migration Act has been made.⁸¹
- The Co-ordination Committee, Refugee Action Coalition NSW submitted 3.75 that:

...the proposed legislative changes attempt to confine judicial review by placing a defined time limit on migration appeals. Thus we believe these

Submission 23, p. 4. 78

81 For example, see QPILCH and SBICLS, Submission 11, p. I; Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar, Submission 15, p. 11.

⁷⁷ Submission 23, p. 4.

⁷⁹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 2.

⁸⁰ Submission 5, p. 4.

proposed changes are unconstitutional under section 75(v) for the very reason they are being proposed; they limit judicial review. 82

3.76 The Law Council made a similar argument:

It is suggested that, as far as the High Court provisions in section 486A of the *Migration Act* are concerned, these may be unconstitutional as they restrict the jurisdiction of the High Court in section 75(v) of the *Constitution*. Insofar as the jurisdiction in section 75(v) was intended to be a broad power to allow the High Court to deal with substantive matters of justice, it is suggested that these provisions may restrict access to justice in the High Court.⁸³

3.77 And further:

This question may then be broadened to ask whether the mirror provisions for the Federal Magistrates Court and the Federal Court may not also restrict access to justice and in some cases leave an applicant with no recourse to the judicial system following their Tribunal decision. The ultimate effect of rigid time limits may again be to force applications in the original jurisdiction of the High Court, further delaying the hearing of cases in that Court.⁸⁴

The committee's view

3.78 The committee repeats the views expressed in its report on the Judicial Review Bill in relation to time limits and makes no additional comments on this issue.⁸⁵ However, the committee acknowledges that its recommendation from that report with respect to actual (as opposed to deemed) notification of decisions⁸⁶ has been taken up by the Federal Government in the current version of the Bill.

Constitutional validity of a 'purported privative clause decision'

3.79 The background to the extended definition of privative clause matters is well known to the committee and was canvassed in detail in the committee's inquiry into the Judicial Review Bill.⁸⁷ The committee does not propose to examine this matter again in detail in the current inquiry. The next section of the report will deal briefly with the main issues raised in relation to privative clauses in this inquiry.

83 *Submission 21*, p. 11.

84 *Submission 21*, pp 11-12.

⁸² *Submission 2*, p. 4.

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, p. 22.

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, pp 24 and 30.

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, pp 3-5 and pp 14-16.

- 3.80 Several submissions and witnesses objected to the perceived further restriction on the ability of applicants in migration matters from accessing judicial review, particularly through the Bill's use of privative clauses.⁸⁸
- 3.81 For example, the Migration Institute of Australia contended that:

...the proposed definition of a purported decision is so broad as to reduce the ability for people to know that a reviewable decision or action has been made and they need to lodge an application for review, and...this may lead to lodgement of 'precautionary appeals' leading to a conflict between the ability to adhere to strict time limits and the prohibition on appealing if there is 'no reasonable prospect of success' linked to personal costs. 89

3.82 Many others agreed with this assessment. At the hearing, Professor Mary Crock from the Law Council expressed strong ideological opposition to the use of the privative clause device:

The High Court of Australia has made it patently clear that the Australian Constitution contains guarantees that cannot be ousted by parliamentary enactment. These guarantees are contained in sections 73 and 75 of the Constitution. They provide that the judicial power in Australia is to be exercised by a federal court, known as the High Court, and that as an irreducible minimum the High Court is to have the power or jurisdiction to review actions taken by an officer of the Commonwealth. These provisions embody the notion that the rule of law in this country involves the power of parliament and of the executive being balanced by the oversight of the court. This means that if a court says that either legislation or administrative action stands outside the law it should be subject to judicial correction. In its reference to purported decisions—I know very few decisions are caught by this—the legislation attempts to preclude the review of decisions affected by the jurisdictional error, and it says that in the legislation. I find it hugely distressing that parliament would purport to put words like that in an enactment given the terms of the Constitution. 90

3.83 The Law Council's submission also raised an interesting point regarding the privative clause provisions in the Bill:

On one level, there seems to be an irony in introducing provisions to limit judicial review that will encourage litigation: once again the High Court will be asked inevitably to rule on the effect of the amendments. On the other hand, it is difficult to see that the amendments will have any effect at all on the ultimate jurisdiction asserted by the High Court (and through it, the lower Federal Courts). ⁹¹

90 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 9.

⁸⁸ See, for example, Legal Services Commission of South Australia, Submission 13.

⁸⁹ *Submission* 8, pp 6-7.

⁹¹ *Submission 21*, p. 13.

3.84 ALHR agreed that any '(f)urther tinkering with the privative clause is likely to lead to further complex litigation to tease out the actual effect of the privative clause'⁹² and that 'there will be no marked "efficiency" in moving the cases as it is clear that the High Court's jurisdiction cannot be ousted'.⁹³

3.85 Professor Williams and Dr Saul expressed a similar viewpoint:

...the application of privative clauses to migration decisions involving noncitizens undermines the principle of equal treatment that is fundamental to the rule of law and the common law, and may infringe the human right to freedom from non-discrimination. The idea of equality before the law demands that Australia's justice system, including the basic right of judicial review of administrative action, must extend to all persons within Australia's jurisdiction, regardless of their status.⁹⁴

3.86 The committee also received evidence arguing that the reference to a 'purported privative clause decision' in the Bill is contradictory in seeking to regulate something that is not a decision at all. For example, in their submission, Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul contended that the amendment might be invalid because it might not be seen as a 'law' that could be enacted by Parliament under section 51 of the Constitution. 95

3.87 At the hearing Professor Williams elaborated on this point:

I am concerned about the very idea of providing a legal framework for the regulation of a purported decision. It seems to be a strange thing to do indeed, within a legal framework that is meant to be compliant with the rule of law, to seek to regulate something which, by its very nature, is illegal or an unlawful decision. In terms of the constitutional problems that might flow from that, significantly this does not make such decisions unreviewable. If it did, I think it is very likely that the bill would have been unconstitutional as a result of the decision in Plaintiff S157, but clearly a sensible decision has been made not to go down that path. However, there are further, less likely problems with the legislation, even in its current form. The mere idea of regulating a purported decision may give rise to a question about whether the regulation is a law at all, as is required by section 51 of the Constitution. There are some fairly oblique references to that idea in that recent High Court decision.

3.88 However, at the hearing, Mr Wayne Martin QC from the ARC expressed the view that the insertion of the term 'purported privative decision' in the Bill was purely mechanical:

93 *Submission 19*, p. 7.

⁹² *Submission 19*, p. 7.

⁹⁴ Submission 14, p. 4.

⁹⁵ *Submission 14*, p. 4.

⁹⁶ *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, pp 29-30.

My own view...is that I thought this ground was covered pretty much by the bill that lapsed with the parliament last year. My impression of it was that the effect of the introduction of the definition was largely mechanical and procedural to overcome what might have been an unintended consequence of the High Court's decision in S157. As I read the provisions of the bill—and I may have misread them—both that bill and, to the extent the provisions have been carried forward in this bill, this one, it was not intended by that definition to attempt to, as it were, resurrect the scope of the privative clause that was emasculated in S157 but, rather, to apply that decision to some of the mechanical provisions of the bill relating to time limits and so forth. 97

3.89 A representative from DIMIA informed the committee that it had sought legal advice on the constitutional validity of the Bill and also argued that the insertion of the privative clause provisions was procedural, rather than a restriction on judicial review:

...the advice that we had is that it would be constitutionally valid. It is on the basis that it does not change the grounds of review. It deals primarily with, and its purpose and focus are on, the procedural aspects. The Migration Act in its current form has a series of time limits and provides for the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts in relation to privative clause decisions. The effect of the High Court's decision is that the privative clause decision, in effect, is a decision that is not tainted by jurisdictional error. The consequence is that, in order for the court to ascertain whether or not the person is within time limits, they have to conduct a complete judicial review. The purpose behind the amendment relating to a purported decision is to say that, in effect, any action or decision that is taken or purportedly taken under the Migration Act comes within those procedural requirements, such as the time limits, the primary decision restriction and also the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts.

3.90 Further, the representative noted that his understanding was that there was far greater confidence that the current version of the Bill is constitutionally valid as opposed to the Judicial Review Bill, due to amendment of the current Bill to include this committee's recommendation from its previous report:⁹⁹

In the form that is in the bill, of course, the government has taken up the committee's recommendation in relation to the earlier proposed provision that operated from deemed notification. This is from actual notification. So I understand that there is far greater confidence that this is constitutionally valid because of that actual notification provision. You will not have the situation where, potentially under the deemed notification provision, a person may not have been aware or they may have only become aware of the decision somewhere within that broadly 84-day period. Here they will

98 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 39.

99 See further Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment (Judicial Review) Bill 2004*, June 2004, p. 30.

⁹⁷ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 18.

in fact have the 84-day period from actually knowing about the decision and having the reasons for that decision in which to seek judicial review. 100

The committee's view

3.91 The committee accepts DIMIA's assertion that the purpose of the 'purported privative clause' device in the Bill is merely procedural, seeking only to apply time and jurisdiction limits to 'purported' decisions under the Migration Act and not bar review of such decisions. The committee repeats the views expressed in its report on the Judicial Review Bill in relation to privative clauses and makes no additional comments on this issue.

Possible alternative approaches

3.92 Many submissions and witnesses acknowledged the attempt in the Bill to improve the efficiency of court processes in relation to migration matters. For example, Ms Kidson from QPILCH, applauded the proposed changes to the structure of the jurisdiction of the courts:

We have said that we have no objection to [giving the High Court power to remit on the papers], provided that safeguards are in place—provided, for example, that the High Court retains the power to hear old submissions if it believes it is necessary and if one of the parties makes a case for that. We have stated that we have no in-principle objection to the Federal Magistrates Court becoming the primary judicial jurisdiction for hearing cases—again, provided it retains the discretion, which under the bill it currently does, to refer complex cases to the Federal Court. ¹⁰¹

3.93 Ms Suhad Kamand from the Immigration Advice and Rights Centre agreed that the Bill's aim has some merit:

We share the concerns expressed by those promoting the bill regarding the high and increasing volume of migration litigation and the delays in, and burdens on, the migration determination process which result. We share the objective of increasing efficiency and expedition in the migration determination process, but only to the extent that the quality, fairness, integrity and constitutionality of that determination are preserved. ¹⁰²

3.94 However, the committee received considerable evidence expressing strong opposition to the way in which the Bill seeks to achieve this aim. This evidence pointed to the failure to address or seek to implement structural reforms which are deemed to be at the core of problems in the use of the judicial review process in Australia, particularly in relation to migration matters. ¹⁰³

¹⁰⁰ *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, pp 39-40.

¹⁰¹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 22.

¹⁰² Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 25.

¹⁰³ For example, see RILC, Submission 23, p. 3.

- 3.95 Many also criticised the Federal Government's continued failure to release the Penfold Report for scrutiny and comment, particularly in light of the fact that the Report contains the evidence and findings which form the basis of the Bill. ¹⁰⁴ In its report on the Judicial Review Bill, this committee urged the Federal Government to release the Penfold Report for public comment before seeking to further amend the Migration Act. ¹⁰⁵ The report also stated that the committee would have been in a better position to comment on the Judicial Review Bill if the Penfold Report had been available at the time of its inquiry. ¹⁰⁶ The committee reiterates its concerns here.
- 3.96 The Law Society of South Australia argued that, although the Federal Government has refused to make available the Penfold Report, a few presumptions can be made from the Bill:

In seeking to reduce the number of matters before the courts, the government response has focussed on implementing barriers and restrictions on the judicial process. It has failed to consider the structural reasons behind the problem. In particular, it has failed to introduce measures designed to improve the quality and transparency of primary decision making. It has also failed to address the consistency, quality and transparency of both the Migration Review Tribunal and the Refugee Review Tribunal. Further, the government has made no proposals designed to strengthen the availability of legal advice and assistance, whether pro bono or otherwise, to applicants before the tribunals leaving some of the most vulnerable members of society to attempt to represent themselves in these matters. ¹⁰⁷

- 3.97 The committee notes advice by a representative of the Attorney-General's Department at the hearing for this inquiry that 'the report was prepared for the government and for the purposes of a cabinet decision and that therefore it would not be released apart from the limited material that has been provided to the committee'. However, the committee restates its view that availability of the Penfold Report would have greatly assisted its assessment of the merits and adequacy of the current Bill and its objectives.
- 3.98 The committee heard that alternative measures to those taken in the Bill would be more successful in addressing the problems relating to judicial review of migration proceedings in Australia. Dr Ben Saul told the committee that:

108 Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 38.

For example, see Ms Debra Mortimer, Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar, *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, p. 34; Refugee and Immigration Legal Centre, *Submission 23*, p. 3.

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, p. 12.

Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment* (*Judicial Review*) *Bill 2004*, June 2004, p. 30.

¹⁰⁷ *Submission 4*, p. 1.

...we take a very different approach to how you should respond to this problem of judicial review being manipulated. Rather than taking a punitive approach by closing down avenues of appeal and imposing cost orders, we think it is preferable instead to address the root causes of why so many applicants seem to be using judicial review as a means of seeking asylum but yet being quite unsuccessful.

. . .

...maintaining a system of mandatory detention and detaining people while their asylum applications are being processed clearly creates an incentive for detainees to try to get out of detention in any way possible, including through judicial review applications, when they do not have much hope of succeeding. 109

3.99 Many argued that the Bill sought to achieve its objectives at the expense of fundamental rights and access to justice. For example, Ms Suhad Kamand from the Immigration Advice and Rights Centre told the committee that:

We have strong concerns regarding the potentially far-reaching effect of the bill on access to migration legal services and the likelihood that it will result in an increase in highly vulnerable socioeconomic groups, often with poor English language skills and little if any understanding of the Australian migration law and processes, representing themselves in complex migration litigation. We are concerned that, while having the potential to significantly decrease access and equity in relation to migration litigation or migration legal services, the bill does little to ensure that its stated objectives of increasing efficiency and minimising unmeritorious claims will be achieved. Indeed it is our view that the measures the bill seeks to put in place will defeat these objectives by decreasing access to sound legal advice and representation, prompting a rise in unrepresented litigants and inviting judicial scrutiny at the application and intent of the ill-defined, onerous and far-reaching obligations and penalties proposed. ¹¹⁰

3.100 The Law Council submitted that 'the Bill will not succeed in its stated aims, but is likely to make a bad situation worse'. 111 In particular:

...the Law Council is concerned that problems in one area of migration decision making – refugee appeals – are driving reforms that impact on the rights of all migration applicants, stifling opportunities to challenge decisions and hampering the courts in their development of immigration jurisprudence.

It is the Council's view that Parliament has again been invited to focus once again on the wrong end of the process: trying to stifle review instead of addressing the question of why so many appeals are being lodged.¹¹²

-

¹⁰⁹ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 29.

¹¹⁰ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 25.

¹¹¹ *Submission 21*, p. 7.

3.101 At the hearing, Professor Mary Crock, representing the Law Council, was highly critical of the approach taken in the Bill:

It is our view that this legislation is contemptuous of the notion of the separation of powers in this country. Like the migration legislation reform enactments that have preceded it, it is ill-conceived, of questionable constitutionality and is likely to have effects that are unintended and are detrimental to both the legal process and the rule of law in Australia. This bill is yet another attempt to oust the judicial review of migration decisions, but it goes further than that. It touches the judicial process generally in the federal area. Whereas on the last occasion the attack was on the courts themselves, this time the approach is two-pronged and involves an attack on the courts and an attempt to discourage and penalise those in the community responsible for bringing judicial review applications. ¹¹³

3.102 Further, Professor Crock stated that Australia has 'one of the smallest bodies of refugee claims in the world' yet also has 'one of the most astonishing proportionate load of cases in the courts'. She argued that efforts should be made to determine why this the case:

Perhaps we need to stand back and look more holistically at the system and what is going wrong.

...

If you have people who are not being looked after and they are not being captured, if you like, by people who are going to look after their cases properly, these people will end up making unmeritorious—or apparently unmeritorious—applications. But in fact they are people who are in dire need of assistance and who have good claims that have never been properly articulated. It is a systemic failure that this is really not addressing. That is the point I would like to make. 115

3.103 Mr Craig Lenehan from HREOC expressed a similar view:

The question that arises for us is: where does the problem really lie? That is an issue that is raised not just in our submission but in other submissions. Do you answer that problem by cutting off people's rights to bring cases that may very well result in them being awarded protection visas or do you look at more fundamental aspects of the problem, which include the matter that you have referred to which is that you have a bunch of unrepresented litigants in the highest court in the land dealing with legal issues that are not only beyond their comprehension but also in a language that they may not understand. That is one issue. 116

¹¹² *Submission 21*, p. 6.

¹¹³ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 9.

¹¹⁴ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 12.

¹¹⁵ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, pp 12 and 13.

¹¹⁶ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 5.

- 3.104 Further, Mr Lenehan emphasised that the sound approach to addressing the problems in relation to judicial review of migration matters, 'particularly when you are dealing with fundamental rights, [is] not to rush in a solution which does not first look to what are the real problems here and what are their causes.'
- 3.105 Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul submitted that other alternatives should be pursued:

...the need for the legislation would be substantially reduced if other alternatives were first pursued: improving primary decision-making; enhancing the RRT's independence; increasing legal aid funding to improve the quality of migration advice about judicial review; removing restrictive interpretations of the refugee definition, and establishing complementary protection as a new migration status; and abolishing mandatory detention. 118

3.106 At the hearing, a representative from DIMIA, in response to questioning about the Bill's misguided focus, described some of the other measures employed by that department:

The department—and it is probably fair to say that the committee or various parliamentary committees—have looked at various aspects of immigration decision making. We certainly do have extensive examination of the quality of our primary decision making. We take seriously the outcomes of the merits review tribunals, look at ways of improving and watch very closely the decisions that are made by the Federal Court. We factor that into our training and have quite a comprehensive, good decision-making training process that takes account of all those aspects. 119

The committee's view

- 3.107 The committee acknowledges concerns in relation to the Bill's perceived failure to adequately address structural and policy problems associated with judicial review of migration matters. The committee agrees that addressing some of these problems in the ways suggested by submissions and witnesses may have considerable merit. In particular, the committee recognises that it may be more effective to address the causes of 'unmeritorious' litigation as opposed to concentrating solely on its effect.
- 3.108 However, the committee considers that the Bill represents one of the strategies that may be helpful in streamlining judicial review of migration litigation, forming part of a broader strategy aimed at addressing some of the problematic issues at the heart of migration law in Australia. Therefore, subject to its earlier recommendations, the committee considers that the Bill should be passed by the Senate.

119 *Committee Hansard*, 13 April 2005, p. 48.

¹¹⁷ Committee Hansard, 13 April 2005, p. 5.

¹¹⁸ Submission 14, p. 3.

Recommendation 3

3.3 Subject to the preceding recommendations, the committee recommends that the Senate pass the Bill.

Senator Marise Payne **Chair**

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS

LABOR SENATORS

- 1.1 Labor Senators acknowledge that the committee's recommendation from its inquiry into the Judicial Review Bill in 2004 with respect to actual notification of decisions has been taken up by the Federal Government in the current version of the Bill. Labor Senators endorse the Federal Government's reconsideration of its approach to this issue.
- However, Labor Senators remain concerned about several issues raised both in the course of the committee's current inquiry and its previous inquiry, particularly in relation to time limits and the constitutional validity of the Bill. Labor Senators again note that the Bill may be unconstitutional insofar as it imposes non-discretionary, absolute time limits for the judicial review of migration decisions, including those decisions suffering from serious jurisdictional error. Therefore, Labor Senators reiterate their previous concerns in relation to such constitutional validity issues.¹
- 1.3 Labor Senators also express their disappointment at the Federal Government's continued failure to release the Penfold Report for scrutiny and comment, particularly in light of the fact that the findings of that Report form the basis of the Bill. Once again, access to the Penfold Report would have been instrumental in allowing the committee to more adequately assess the need and appropriateness of the Bill.

Senator the Hon Nick Bolkus **Deputy Chair**

_

See further Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Migration Amendment (Judicial Review) Bill 2004*, June 2004, p. 31.

DISSENTING REPORT

Senator Andrew Bartlett On behalf of the Australian Democrats

- 1.1 After reviewing the evidence and submission presented to this inquiry, the Australian Democrats' view is that the Bill should be opposed.
- 1.2 The Democrats agree with the majority of witnesses to the inquiry that there is no valid justification for the Bill. The number of migration cases before the Federal and High Courts continues to decline from the considerable increase in migration case numbers in 2002 -2003. This peak in migration applications was due to the large increase in unauthorised arrivals between 1999 and 2001. The number of unauthorised arrivals has fallen markedly since then. Also evident is the fact that the 2002-2003 increase in migration cases was also due to the policy measures pursued by the Government, especially in relation to decisions not to allow representation actions in migration cases. Also significant is the Government's continued refusal to publish the findings and recommendations of the Penfold Report, which the Government asserts form the basis of the Bill.
- 1.3 In particular, the case has not been made for introduction of the radical proposal to award cost orders against any person deemed to have encouraged an unmeritorious application for review of a migration decision. The Democrats share the concerns raised by many witness and submissions that such provisions are in effect an attempt to discourage lawyers, volunteers and other Australians who have a legitimate role in assisting refugees and migrants.
- 1.4 Similarly, the Democrats consider that provisions seeking to restrict judicial review of migration decisions by the imposition of time limits are inappropriate and unnecessary given the courts' current powers to manage their caseload and to screen out unmeritorious applications.
- 1.5 The proposed privative clause is equally problematic as is the Bill's reference to 'purported privative clause decisions'. Serious doubts have been raised over the constitutional validity of the latter as well as over the imposition of time limits restricting judicial review of migration decisions. Moreover, these provisions will compound the complexity already inherent in the Migration Act and provide even more grounds for appeals. This is at odds with the Bill's stated aim of reducing the number of migration appeals and the associated cost and delay.
- 1.6 The Bill is based on a false premise and is unworkable and potentially dangerous. As the Democrats stated in respect of the earlier Migration Amendment (Judicial Review) Bill 2004:

Once we start limiting access to the courts for particular sections of the community, we are creating a legal system that does not hold everyone equal

in the eyes of the law. It is imperative that those seeking asylum are not denied access to judicial review, particularly given the legitimate concerns about the adequacy of the existing determination process. We should be working harder to ensure that justice is delivered rather than subverted.

These comments apply equally to the Bill and now have even more force given the recent injustices wrought by the Government against its own citizens who have the misfortune to become embroiled in its immigration regime.

- 1.7 Consequently, the Democrats believe that the Bill should not be passed even if it is amended in accordance with the Committee's recommendations. The Democrats appreciate the reasons for the Committee's recommendations for a report to Parliament on the operation of the Bill and for the sun setting of the summary dismissal powers. However, the fact remains that no real evidence has been presented which warrants the enactment of the Bill in the first place.
- 1.8 Notwithstanding the above, if the Bill is to be passed by the Parliament, it will be critical for the Committee's recommendations to be implemented. In addition, the Democrats believe that it is crucial that the Bill as a whole be subject to a sunset clause. The significant implications of this Bill for the courts, the legal profession, the rule of law and the lives of individuals at risk of persecution and seeking Australia's protection make it essential that the operation of the Bill be fully examined and debated by the Parliament if it is to continue.

Recommendation 1:

That the Bill be opposed.

Recommendation 2:

That, if the Bill is not to be opposed, it be amended in accordance with the Committee Recommendations.

Recommendation 3:

That, if the Bill is not to be opposed, it be amended to include a sunset clause which provides that the legislation will cease to have effect three years after it commences.

Senator Andrew Bartlett Australian Democrats

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

1	Refugee Advocacy Services of South Australia
2	Co-ordination Committee of the Refugee Action Coalition NSW
3	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
4	The Law Society of South Australia
5	Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils of Australia (FECCA)
6	Administrative Review Council
7	Refugee Council of Australia
8	The Migration Institute of Australia
9	Dr Katherine Biber
10	Immigration Advice and Rights Centre
11	Queensland Public Interest Law Clearing House and South Brisbane Immigration and Community Legal Service
12	National Pro Bono Resource Centre
13	Legal Services Commission of South Australia
14	Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul
15	Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar
16	Amnesty International Australia
17	Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission
17A	Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission
18	Refugee Action Collective (Brisbane)
19	Australian Lawyers for Human Rights
20	The New South Wales Bar Association
21	Law Council of Australia

- 22 Victoria Legal Aid
- 23 Refugee and Immigration Legal Centre
- The Law Society of Western Australia
- Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs

APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE

Canberra, Wednesday 13 April 2005

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission

Mr Craig Lenehan, Deputy Director, Legal Services

Mr Jonathon Hunyor, Senior Legal Officer, Legal Services

Law Council of Australia

Mr Peter Webb, Secretary-General

Associate Professor Mary Crock, Member, International Law Section

Administrative Review Council

(Teleconference)

Mr Wayne Martin QC, President

Queensland Public Interest Law Clearing House (QPILCH) and South Brisbane Immigration and Community Legal Service (SBICLS)

(Teleconference)

Ms Nitra Kidson, RAILS Project Coordinator (QPILCH)

Mr Robert Lachowicz, Coordinator and Principal Solicitor (SBICLS)

Immigration Advice and Rights Centre

Ms Suhad Kamand, Director/Principal Solicitor

Professor George Williams and Dr Ben Saul

(Teleconference)

Public Interest Law Clearing House (Vic) and the Victorian Bar

(Teleconference)

Ms Debbie Mortimer SC, Member of the Victorian Bar

Attorney-General's Department

Ms Sandra Power, Assistant Secretary, Civil Jurisdiction and Federal Courts Branch, Civil Justice Division

Ms Deborah Turner, Principal Legal Officer, Civil Jurisdiction and Federal Courts Branch, Civil Justice Division

Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs

Mr Douglas Walker, Assistant Secretary, Visa Framework Branch

Ms Cassandra Ireland, Principal Legal Officer, Legal Policy Section